
 

  NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 
Friday, October 9, 2020 - 9:30 a.m.    

Pinelands Commission YouTube link:  
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBgpC8sbR3Acrjo7ppxs3Uw 

To Provide Public Comment, Please Dial: 1-929-205-6099 Meeting ID: 833 5477 1666 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

 Open Public Meetings Act Statement  
 Roll Call  
 Pledge Allegiance to the Flag 

 
2. Adoption of Minutes  

 
 September 11, 2020 
 

3.  Committee Chairs' and Executive Director's Reports  
 

4.  Matters for Commission Consideration Where the Record is Closed 
 

A. Permitting Matters 
 

 Office of Administrative Law  
 

• None 
 

 Review of Local Approval  
 

• None 
 

 Public Development Projects and Waivers of Strict Compliance 
 

• None 
 

B.      Planning Matters 
 

 Municipal Master Plans and Ordinances  
 

• Issuing an Order to Certify Manchester Township Ordinance 20-022, Adopting 
the Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Plan. 
 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBgpC8sbR3Acrjo7ppxs3Uw


2 
 

• Issuing an Order to Certify Winslow Township Ordinance O-2020-19, Adopting 
the Churchill Redevelopment Plan. 
 

 Other Resolutions 
 

• None 
 

 CMP Amendments  
 

• None 
 
  5.  Public Comment on Public Development Applications and Waivers of Strict Compliance Where   
the Record is Not Closed.  

  
A. Public Development Projects 

 
 Application No. 1986-1336.003 – Monroe Township 

Installation of an accessory solar energy facility at the Monroe Township Municipal 
Building 
Monroe Township 
 

 Application No. 2003-0032.003 – Monroe Municipal Utilities Authority 
Installation of an accessory solar energy facility at an existing Monroe Municipal 
Utilities Authority facility 
Monroe Township 

 
B. Waivers of Strict Compliance 

 
 None 

 
  6.   Consideration of the South Jersey Transportation Authority’s Request for Additional Time to Acquire 
the Grassland Conservation Management Area 
 
  7.   Master Plans and Ordinances Not Requiring Commission Action 
 

 Manchester Township Ordinances 20-026 & 20-031 
 Ocean Township Ordinance 2020-11 
 Shamong Township Ordinance 2020-7 

 
  8.   Presentation: Annual Update on Permanent Land Protection in the Pinelands Area 
 
  9.  General Public Comment 
 
 10.  Resolution to Retire into Closed Session (if needed) – Personnel, Litigation and Acquisition                                
Matters (The Commission reserves the right to reconvene into public session to take action on closed session 
items.)   
 
 11.  Adjournment 
 



3 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To ensure adequate time for all members of the public to comment, we will respectfully limit comments to three 
minutes.  Questions raised during this period may not be responded to at this time but where feasible, will be 
followed up by the Commission and its staff. 
 
 
Pinelands Commission and Committee meeting agendas are posted on the Commission’s Website and can be 
viewed at www.nj.gov/pinelands/  for more information on agenda details, e-mail the Public Programs Office  at 
Info@pinelands.nj.gov. 

Upcoming Meetings 
  

     Fri., October 30, 2020       Policy & Implementation Committee Meeting (9:30 a.m.) 
     Fri., November 13, 2020              Pinelands Commission Meeting (9:30 a.m.) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Upcoming Office Closures 
      
              Monday, October 12, 2020 – Columbus Day 
 
            
         
 

http://www.nj.gov/pinelands/
mailto:info@njpines.state.nj.us
mailto:Info@pinelands.nj.gov


PC2-56 
 

            
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 

PINELANDS COMMISSION MEETING 
 

MINUTES 
     September 11, 2020 

 
The September 11, 2020 Pinelands Commission meeting was conducted remotely.  All 
participants were present via Zoom conference and the meeting was livestreamed through 
YouTube. 
 
Commissioners Participating in the Meeting  
Alan W. Avery Jr., Daniel Christy, Sean Earlen, Jordan P. Howell, Jerome H. Irick, Ed 
Lloyd, Mark Lohbauer, William Pikolycky and Chairman Richard Prickett.  Also 
participating were Executive Director Nancy Wittenberg and Deputy Attorney General 
(DAG) Kristina Miles and Governor’s Authorities Unit representative Rudy Rodas. 
 
Commissioners Absent 
Jane Jannarone, Gary Quinn and D’Arcy Rohan Green. 
 
Chairman Prickett called the meeting to order at 9:35 a.m.   
 
DAG Miles read the Open Public Meetings Act Statement (OPMA). 
 
Executive Director Nancy Wittenberg called the roll and announced the presence of a 
quorum.   
 
The Commission pledged allegiance to the Flag. 
 
Minutes 
 
Chairman Prickett presented the minutes from the Commission’s August 14, 2020 meeting.  
Commissioner Lohbauer moved the adoption of the minutes. Commissioner Avery 
seconded the motion. 
 
The minutes from the August 14, 2020 Commission meeting were adopted by a vote of 9 to 
0.    



PC2-57 
 

 
Committee Reports 
 
Chairman Prickett provided an update on the August 28, 2020 Policy and Implementation 
(P&I) Committee Meeting: 
 
The Committee adopted the minutes of its June 26, 2020 meeting. 
 
The Committee recommended Commission certification of Woodland Township Ordinance 
2020-3, extending the duration of resource extraction permits from two to five years. 
 
The Committee received an update on a proposed amendment to an existing Memorandum 
of Agreement with Atlantic County regarding the development “pocket” at Lake Lenape 
Park and associated offsets. Staff is awaiting information from the County regarding 
acreage to be preserved in association with the reconfiguration of the docks, boat launch 
and bathing area. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer provided an update on the August 28, 2020 Land Use, Climate 
Impacts and Sustainability (LUCIS) Committee: 
 
The Committee agreed that the LUCIS Committee meetings will be held monthly and, if 
possible, will follow the Policy and Implementation Committee meeting.   
 
The Committee discussed the five guiding principles that would be incorporated into a 
preliminary amendment of the CMP regarding climate change.  The amendment would 
serve as an overall standard that guides the Commission so that climate change is always 
considered.   The Committee discussed and raised questions about the guiding principles, 
including the need to set standards and how they will be implemented.   
 
The Committee agreed that a draft resolution establishing the guiding principles be drafted 
for their review.  The resolution will be prepared for the next Committee meeting. 
 
Staff provided an overview of the New Jersey Forest Stewardship Program and how it is 
implemented by the Commission.  Staff also provided an overview of solar applications in 
the Pinelands and the Community Solar Program. 
 
Executive Director’s Report 
 
ED Wittenberg provided an update on the following items: 

• The Fiscal Year 2021 (FY21) budget will look different this year.  The budget will 
be discussed at an upcoming Personnel and Budget Committee meeting to 
determine how the FY21 Budget should be presented. 

• This year’s Audit has proven to be difficult and taken longer than anticipated due to 
the pandemic and the new accounting firm. 

• The Commission is down six positions due to employees retiring or leaving over 
approximately the last year.  A staffing plan is being developed to identify where 



PC2-58 
 

employees from different offices may assist offices in need. Staff plans to discuss 
the need to hire and fill some of the vacant positions with the Governor’s office. 
 

Chuck Horner, Director of Regulatory Programs, provided information on the following 
regulatory matters: 

• Staff attended a municipal court hearing via Zoom regarding a land clearing matter 
in Hamilton Township. The matter is scheduled for trial in November. 

• Staff issued a letter authorizing the Town of Hammonton to create a Temporary 
Debris Management Area for storm-related materials to be stored at its existing 
public works facility. The Executive Director discussed the matter with the 
Chairman prior to staff issuing the emergency authorization letter. 

• Staff is scheduled to meet with the New Jersey Department of Environmental 
Protection (NJDEP) Division of Fish and Wildlife to discuss better coordination of 
development applications proposed in the Pinelands Area. The Commission and 
NJDEP’s Fish and Wildlife program have an existing Memorandum of Agreement 
(MOA)  dating back to the 1980’s,  and it authorizes certain development activities 
to occur without application to the Commission as long the development is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). 

• The Commission continues to receive extensive public comment on the change of 
use application for the Atco Dragway.  The application seeks to convert the 
raceway into an automobile auction facility. In July, staff sent a letter requesting 
additional information to complete the application.  
 

Susan R. Grogan, Director of Planning, provided an update on the following matters: 
• In August, the following two annual reports were posted to the website and 

distributed: the Pinelands Development Credit (PDC) Bank and the Septic Pilot 
Program. 

• Staff continues to work on CMP amendments, one of which pertains to stormwater 
and is in response to the NJDEP’s recent stormwater rules. Some recommendations 
will be shared with the P&I Committee at its September meeting. Amendments to 
the Septic Pilot program are progressing.  Staff held a virtual public hearing on 
September 2nd.   No comment was provided at the hearing and written comment has 
yet to be received. 

• Last fall, the Commission authorized a number of projects to be awarded Pinelands 
Infrastructure Trust Fund (PITF) grant and loan opportunities for projects that met 
the criteria. The process is slow but Monroe Township is proceeding to the 
Infrastructure Bank for its transportation improvement project and Pemberton 
Township recently informed the Commission that it would be moving forward with 
its water system upgrades. 

• The New Jersey Historic Trust conducted a site visit for the grant application to 
paint Fenwick Manor.  Decisions will be made at the end of October. The 
Commission was advised that it is very competitive and the money that was 
originally designated had been cut substantially. 

• Staff participated in the Governor’s Interagency Task Force meeting on August 
19th.  The discussions at these meeting typically revolve around the plan 
endorsement process. At the August meeting, the group discussed coastal centers 



PC2-59 
 

and existing town centers that are vulnerable to climate change. The other topic 
discussed was adjustments each state agency has had to make during the pandemic 
and how the agency is processing Open Public Records Act requests, site 
inspections and field visits. 

• A presentation on the Permanent Land Protection efforts of the Commission will be 
shared at the October Commission meeting. Included in that presentation will be 
some highlights of the PDC program. PDC sales activity remains busy. She said a 
total of 55,391 acres have been preserved because of the PDC program. 

 
Stacey Roth, Chief of Legal and Legislative Affairs, said she reached out to the State Ethics 
Commission to arrange virtual ethics training rather than on-line modules.  The training is 
currently scheduled to occur after the November Commission meeting. 
 
Paul Leakan, Communications Officer, provided information on the next round of 
webinars, which the Commission will host through the end of October and into November.  
He said social media followers continue to grow and he shared the demographics of the 
Commission’s followers.  He said he has been working on an ArcGIS StoryMap for the 
Pine Barrens Byway, and it will feature detailed summaries of amenities, miniature maps 
and 37 high-resolution photos of nine points of interest along the route. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer requested staff’s assistance with arranging a site visit to the six 
inadvertent returns along the New Jersey Natural Gas pipeline route in the Pinelands Area. 
 
Chairman Prickett also expressed an interest in the site visit. 
 
ED Wittenberg said staff would work on arranging the visit but it may take additional time 
due to access onto the Joint Base. 
 
Public Development Projects and Other Permit Matters 

Chairman Prickett presented a resolution for two development applications in Atlantic 
County. He said Atlantic Cape Community College is proposing the construction of a 
baseball field and an athletic training building. He added that Atlantic County is proposing 
improvements at Lake Lenape Park. 
 
Commissioner Pikolycky made a motion Approving With Conditions Applications for 
Public Development (Application Numbers 1983-5250.015 & 1983-5765.007) (See 
Resolution # PC4-20-26).  Commissioner Avery seconded the motion. 
 
Director Horner noted that the proposed development associated with the application at 
Lake Lenape Park is in the Regional Growth Area and is not subject of the MOA the 
Commission is currently discussing with Atlantic County. 
 
Chairman Prickett had a question about the wetlands standard referenced in the Public 
development report for the Lake Lenape Park application (1983-5765.007). 
 



PC2-60 
 

Director Horner explained that Lake Lenape is considered a wetland.  He said the park is 
developed and that the proposed development should not be located any closer than the 
existing development in order for there to be no significant adverse impacts to the 
wetlands.  He added that the development is not taking place in wetlands and it will 
maintain the appropriate buffer. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 9 to 0. 
 
Chairman Prickett presented a resolution recommending approval for the construction of an 
addition to a municipal fire station on Monroe Township that previously received 
emergency authorization. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer said he would like to see the application tabled. He said the 
applicant was supposed to revegetate the site and remove storage sheds as conditioned in a 
previous approval.  He said we are now conditioning another approval. He said he is not 
opposed to the actual application but he said the Commission should not take action until 
the applicant has completed the revegetation and proceeds with the removal of the sheds. 
 
Director Horner said staff is aware of the situation. He said the applicant originally stated 
that restoration of the property would be complete by the spring of 2021.  Staff indicated to 
the applicant that the timeframe was not appropriate and restoration had to be completed by 
November 30, 2020. He said this application is not typical in that the Executive Director 
issued a letter, after a discussion with the Chairman.  The letter enabled the application to 
proceed under the emergency authorization provision in the CMP, based on public safety. 
He said the fire company needed to begin construction in order for fire trucks and 
equipment to have proper shelter. 
 
Ms. Roth said there were legal concerns with tabling the application. She said the CMP 
requires that the Commission consider applications at the time it is presented.  She said if 
the Commission fails to take action on the application, it is referred to the Office of 
Administrative Law (OAL). She said in order to avoid the application being transferred to 
OAL, staff could contact the town and ask for it to submit a letter requesting that the 
Commission delay action. 
 
Director Horner suggested including specific language in the cover letter to the Mayor, 
including the request for immediate removal of the storage sheds. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer agreed with Director Horner’s suggestion. 
 
Commissioner Irick said he also agreed with the suggested approach and would like to put 
Monroe Township on notice that the Commission cannot consider any other applications 
until this violation is resolved. 
 
Commissioner Lloyd said he is satisfied with today’s solution, but conditions are added to 
public development reports for a reason.  He suggested having a broader discussion on 



PC2-61 
 

municipal violations in the future.  He said in his opinion this application could be tabled 
today. 
 
Chairman Prickett requested that when considering future emergency authorizations that he 
be notified if the municipality has existing violations. 
 
Commissioner Christy made a motion to table the application. No one seconded the 
motion. 
 
A discussion on municipal violations continued. 
 
Director Horner said he would convey the Commission’s concerns to the Township and 
suggested inviting the Monroe Township Mayor to the October Commission meeting. 
 
Commissioner Avery made a motion Approving With Conditions an Application for Public 
Development (Application Number 1982-2787.003) (See Resolution # PC4-20-27).  
Commissioner Lohbauer seconded the motion. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 9 to 0. 
 
Chairman Prickett presented a resolution recommending approval of a fuel break by 
thinning 152 acres in Manchester Township. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer made a motion Approving With Conditions an Application for 
Public Development (Application Number 1985-0462.005) (See Resolution # PC4-20-28).  
Commissioner Irick seconded the motion. 
 
Director Horner noted that the initial public notice included incorrect block and lots, which 
generated public comment. The County quickly corrected the public notice, which listed 
accurate block and lots for the project. The error led some members of the public to believe 
that the forest thinning would occur on their parcel, causing them to comment on the 
application. 
 
Chairman Prickett said he was happy to see that the applicant is proposing a thinning of the 
forest rather than clear cutting. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer said he was pleased with the forestry plan. He said the thinning of 
the forest will protect the threatened and endangered species and preserve the larger 
standing trees. He noted the County is not planning to use herbicides.  He said three 
members of the public raised concern about Off-Road Vehicle (ORV) access in the forest 
break as a result of the thinning.  He said he would like to see the applicant address the 
ORV access issue in future forestry applications. 
 
Chairman Prickett said this may be a CMP amendment the Commission would like to 
consider. 
 



PC2-62 
 

Director Horner said he could add language to the resolution transmittal letter expressing 
the concern. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 9 to 0. 
 
Chairman Prickett presented a resolution recommending approval for the construction of a 
salt storage dome in Ocean County.         
 
Commissioner Lohbauer made a motion Approving With Conditions an Application for 
Public Development (Application Number 1985-0949.039) (See Resolution # PC4-20-29).  
Commissioner Irick seconded the motion. 
 
Director Horner said it was determined that a violation occurred on the property. He said 
the County has begun to remove the parked vehicles being stored on the parcel and has 
plans to revegetate this fall. 
  
Commissioner Lohbauer said the Commission needs to adopt a policy regarding violations. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 9 to 0. 
 
Chairman Prickett presented a resolution recommending approval of two public 
development applications: the construction of a storage building in Wharton State Forest 
and the construction of a walking path and docks in Medford Lakes.         
 
Commissioner Lohbauer made a motion Approving With Conditions Applications for 
Public Development (Application Numbers 1992-0102.007 & 1999-0303.002) (See 
Resolution # PC4-20-30).  Commissioner Lloyd seconded the motion. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 9 to 0. 
 
Planning Matters 
 
Chairman Prickett presented a resolution recommending approval of a Woodland 
Township ordinance. 
 
Commissioner Avery made a motion Issuing an Order to Certify Ordinance 2020-3, 
Amending Ordinances 1998-4, 1998-11, and 2001-8 of Woodland Township (See 
Resolution # PC4-20-31). Commissioner Lohbauer seconded the motion. 
 
Director Grogan said the ordinance will extend mining permits from two years to five years 
which will be easier and more efficient for all parties. She said the CMP does allow for the 
extension of the permit cycle. She noted that other Pinelands towns have taken advantage 
of this provision. 
 
Director Horner said at the P&I Committee Commissioner Lohbauer asked about the 
number of mines in Woodland Township and if there were any known violations.  He said 



PC2-63 
 

there are three active resource extraction operations in Woodland and no substantive land 
use violations. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 9 to 0. 
 
Public Comment on Public Development Applications and Items where the record is open 
 
Chairman Prickett said there is a Waiver of Strict Compliance for the development of one 
single family dwelling up for comment.  There were no public comments. 
 
Commissioner Christy left the meeting. 
 
Ordinances Not Requiring Commission Action 
 
Chairman Prickett read the list of ordinances not requiring Commission action.   
 

 Manchester Township Ordinance 2020-21 
 Stafford Township Ordinances 2017-11 & 2017-12 

 
No questions were raised. 
 
Update from the NJDEP 

Chairman Prickett welcomed Ray Bukowski, Assistant Commissioner of Natural & 
Historic Resources. Joining Assistant Commissioner Bukowski were Acting Director of 
Parks & Forestry, Robin Madden, and new Chief of Park Police, Amanda Smith. 
 
Assistant Commissioner Bukowski explained the organizational and personnel changes the 
Department recently experienced.  He said state parks and Wildlife Management Areas 
(WMAs) experienced an unprecedented season. He said seasonal employees were reduced 
by two-thirds while the Parks and WMAs experienced an unprecedented amount of 
visitors. Some of the challenges they faced in the parks were illegal swimming, illegal 
alcohol consumption and ORV use. 
 
Acting Director Madden said Atsion was closed for the season, but will be reopening soon 
for boating and picnicking. She said in her new role she will be working with local officials 
to keep the public educated about the proper use of parks. 
  
Assistant Commissioner Bukowski said this fall the Department will embark on a 
stakeholder process for mapping access in state parks.  He said effective enforcement is the 
crucial first step, because without it, mapping is meaningless.  He plans to have a 
continuous dialogue with government entities, non-governmental organizations, including 
public-facing opportunities to publicize deterrents for illegal ORV use. 
 
Chief Smith said she created a special All-Terrain Vehicle (ATV)/ORV unit to respond to 
matters related specifically to illegal ORV use.  She said it is a state-wide problem. She 
said her department will be exploring the use of technologies (drones and apps) to assist 



PC2-64 
 

officers in controlling illegal ORV use. She said educating the public will be another 
significant step in curbing ORV use. She said she wants the public to understand what 
activities are acceptable and appropriate at State Parks.  She also wants them to understand 
enforcement, rules and regulations and the effects that ORV damage has on the ecosystem. 
Chief Smith added that Park Police work continuously with local police and State Police. 
Chief Smith also spoke about higher fines for repeat offenders and asset forfeiture. 
 
Assistant Commissioner Bukowski said with the help of NJDEP’s Communications office 
and the state Division of Fish and Wildlife, the Department will work collaboratively on 
the education piece of where and how riding is acceptable. He added that Park Police only 
have jurisdiction on state lands.  He said deterrents are fundamental and would like to see a 
graduated approach related to seizures and confiscation.  He said educating the public 
includes providing them with contact information of whom to call when they see illegal 
ORV use occurring. 
 
Assistant Commissioner Bukowski provided an update on the clear-cutting project at Bass 
River State Forest.  He said the project is complete.  He said the NJDEP has received 
inquiries regarding the stumps that have been left. He said that was intentional and it will 
help with the regeneration of trees. The site is constantly monitored and restoration of the 
site is occurring.  He commended the Forest Fire Service for spotting and responding to 
many fires this season.  
 
The complete discussion can be viewed on the Commission’s YouTube channel: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0Nao4vIooT0 
 
General Public Comment 

Fred Akers of the Great Egg Harbor Watershed Association said he enjoys hearing reports 
from the Commission staff.  He said he was pleased to hear about the use of fines as a 
deterrent for illegal ORV use.  He said he was recently on NJDEP’s Fish and Wildlife 
webpage and noticed that a Special Use Permit is required for groups of 11 or more visiting 
WMAs.  
 
Assistant Commissioner Bukowksi said Park Police have the ability to require mandatory 
court appearance related to illegal ORV use but it is dependent on the severity of the 
situation.  He added that Special Use Permits have always been required in WMAs and it 
helps park personnel identify who is using them and for what.   
 
Commissioner Earlen and Commissioner Lloyd left the meeting. 
 
Commissioner Avery said today marks the 19th anniversary of the September 11th attacks 
and wants to recognize all the people who lost their lives that day. 
 
Jaclyn Rhoads of the Pinelands Preservation Alliance said partnering with other agencies is 
a key component of combatting illegal ORV use. She said years ago PPA worked on model 
ordinances for Pinelands towns, and the ordinances increased fines for illegal ORV use, 
along with the possibility for impoundment.  She said she would like do more with the 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0Nao4vIooT0


PC2-65 
 

Towns on this issue. She said Jason Howell has before-and-after pictures, of private lands 
where barriers were installed to keep out ORV riders.  She said PPA will share the photos 
with the Commission. 
 
Rhyan Grech of the Pinelands Preservation Alliance provided an update on the Southern 
Reliability Link pipeline. She said New Jersey Natural Gas submitted information to the 
NJDEP to address the causes of the inadvertent returns that occurred this past spring. She 
said NJDEP responded back to NJNG advising that the information submitted was 
insufficient and that their permit remains suspended. She encouraged the Commission to 
work with the NJDEP and non-profit organizations to combat illegal ORV use by engaging 
in a stakeholder process for mapping and educating the public, including the adoption of 
USGS maps for all state lands and providing support for restoration plans. 
 
Jason Howell of the Pinelands Preservation Alliance said there is a solution to the illegal 
use of ORVs.  He said management solutions are what the Pinelands are lacking. He added 
that an enforcement feature and a communications campaign are necessary to fight illegal 
ORV use.  He said there needs to be limited motor vehicle access points and travel 
management planning. 
 
Adjournment 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer moved to adjourn the meeting.  Commissioner Pikolycky 
seconded the motion.  The Commission agreed to adjourn at 12:36 p.m.    
 

Certified as true and correct: 

 
_________________________________   Date: September 23, 2020 
Jessica Noble, Executive Assistant  



 

Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery X    Irick X    Pikolycky X    
Christy X    Jannarone   X  Quinn   X  

Earlen X    Lloyd X    Rohan Green   X  

Howell X    Lohbauer X    Prickett X    
       *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 

Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:  September 11, 2020   

 

    

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 

Executive Director  Chairman 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION  

 

NO. PC4-20-    26   

 

TITLE:  Approving With Conditions Applications for Public Development (Application Numbers 1983-

5250.015 & 1983-5765.007) 

 

Commissioner   Pikolycky  moves and Commissioner   Avery  

seconds the motion that: 
 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the Public Development Application Reports and 

the recommendation of the Executive Director that the following applications for Public Development 

be approved with conditions: 

 

1983-5250.015 

Applicant: Atlantic Cape Community College 

Municipality: Hamilton Township 

Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 

Date of Report:  August 20, 2020 

Proposed Development: Construction of a baseball field, a 12,140 square foot building 

containing athletic training areas and associated development; and 

 

1983-5765.007 

Applicant: Atlantic County Facilities Management 

Municipality: Hamilton Township 

Management Area: Pinelands Forest Area 

 Pinelands Regional Growth Area 

Date of Report:  August 20, 2020 

Proposed Development: Improvements to the Atlantic County Lake Lenape Park. 

 

WHEREAS, no request for a hearing before the Office of Administrative Law concerning the Executive 

Director’s recommendation has been received for any of these applications; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the Conclusion of the Executive Director for 

each of the proposed developments; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby determines that each of the proposed public 

developments conform to the standards for approving an application for public development set forth in 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57 if the conditions recommended by the Executive Director are imposed; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force or 

effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes 

of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 

expiration of the review period and Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 

effective upon such approval. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Application Numbers 1983-5250.015 & 1983-

5765.007 for public development are hereby approved subject to the conditions recommended by the 

Executive Director. 

 



 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Jean McAlister (via email) 

Atlantic Cape Community College 

5100 Black Horse Pike 

Mays Landing, NJ 08330 

 

 Re: Application # 1983-5250.015 

  Block 996, Lot 26 

  Hamilton Township 

 

Dear Ms. McAlister: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of a baseball field, a 

12,140 square foot building containing athletic training areas and associated development. Enclosed is a 

copy of a Public Development Application Report. On behalf of the Commission’s Executive Director, I 

am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the application with conditions at its 

September 11, 2020 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 

c: Secretary, Hamilton Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Hamilton Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Atlantic County Department of Regional Planning and Development (via email) 

 Cormac Morrissey, PE, PP, CME (via email) 

  



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Jean McAlister (via email) 

Atlantic Cape Community College 

5100 Black Horse Pike 

Mays Landing, NJ 08330 

 

Application No.: 1983-5250.015 

   Block 996, Lot 26 

   Hamilton Township 

 

This application proposes construction of a baseball field, a 12,140 square foot building containing 

athletic training areas, a concession stand with restrooms and associated development located on the 

above referenced 312.73 acre parcel in Hamilton Township. The existing Atlantic Cape Community 

College campus is located on the parcel. 

 

The application also proposes a 765 linear foot paved walking path and 1,123 linear feet of 12 foot wide 

paved road to provide access to the baseball field.  

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application:  

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28) 

 

The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. The proposed development is a permitted 

land use in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. 

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within an existing grassed athletic field.  The proposed soil 

disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the proposed development. 

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant proposes to plant grasses suitable for an 

athletic field. The Commission staff has not required applicants to meet this CMP grass guideline for 

athletic fields.  



2 

 

Water Quality Standard (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.83) 

 

The proposed development will be serviced by public sanitary sewer. 

 

Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C.7:50-6.84(a)6) 

 

The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed development is consistent with the stormwater 

management standards contained in the CMP. To meet the stormwater management standards, the 

applicant will be constructing two stormwater infiltration basins. 

 

Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 

 

The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel. Based 

upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 

not required. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Notice to required land owners within 200 feet 

of the above referenced parcel was completed on July 9, 2020. Newspaper public notice was completed 

on July 9, 2020. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s website on July 16, 

2020. The Commission’s public comment period closed on August 14, 2020.  No public comment was 

submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of seven sheets, prepared by Dixon Associates Engineering, LLC and 

dated as follows: 

 

Sheets 1, 4 & 6 - February 27, 2020; last revised June 26, 2020 

Sheets 2, 3, 5 & 7 - February 27, 2020; last revised June 8, 2020 

 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions.



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on September 7, 2020 and include the 

following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 



 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Leslie MacDonnell, Asst. Chief Administrative Services (via email) 

Atlantic County Facilities Management 

1333 Atlantic Avenue 

Atlantic City, NJ 08401 

 

 Re: Application # 1983-5765.007 

  Block 588, Lot 75.01 

  Hamilton Township 

 

Dear Ms. MacDonnell: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for improvements to the Atlantic 

County Lake Lenape Park. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On behalf 

of the Commission’s Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve 

the application with conditions at its September 11, 2020 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 

c: Secretary, Hamilton Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Hamilton Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Atlantic County Department of Regional Planning and Development (via email) 

 Jeanmarie Murphy (via email) 

 Dan Jones (via email) 

 Thomas Stark (via email) 



  

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Leslie MacDonnell, Asst. Chief Administrative Services (via email) 

Atlantic County Facilities Management 

1333 Atlantic Avenue 

Atlantic City, NJ 08401 

 

Application No.: 1983-5765.007 

   Block 588, Lot 75.01 

   Hamilton Township 

 

This application proposes improvements to the Atlantic County Lake Lenape Park located on the above 

referenced 14.84 acre parcel in Hamilton Township.   

 

The existing park includes several pavilions, a catering hall, a park ranger station, docks, walkways and 

a playground.  The application also proposes to remove two small storage buildings, 50 years old or 

older, and sections of concrete walkways. The application further proposes the construction of two open 

sided pavilions, walkways, two access ramps, a pickleball court and a 37 space paved and permeable 

pavement parking lot. 

 

The Atlantic County Lake Lenape Park is located partially in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area and 

partially in a Pinelands Forest Area. The portion of the Atlantic County Lake Lenape Park located in a 

Pinelands Forest Area is subject of an existing Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) between Atlantic 

County and the Pinelands Commission. That MOA specifies the type, and limits the extent, of 

development that is permitted in the Pinelands Forest Area portion of the Atlantic County Lake Lenape 

Park. The parcel subject of this application is located in the Pinelands Regional Growth Area portion of 

the parcel. The portion of the Atlantic County Lake Lenape Park located in the Pinelands Regional 

Growth Area is not subject of the MOA.  

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application:  

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28(a)) 

 

The portion of the parcel proposed to be developed is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. The 

proposed development is a permitted land use in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.  



2 

 

Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.6) 

 

There are wetlands located on the above referenced parcel.  Based upon the location of existing 

development on the parcel closer to wetlands, the proposed development will not result in a significant 

adverse impact on wetlands. 

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within existing impervious, gravel and maintained grassed 

areas.  The proposed soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the 

development.  

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant proposes to utilize a seed mixture which 

meets that recommendation. 

 

Water Quality Standard (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.83) 

 

The existing recreational facility is serviced by public sanitary sewer. 

 

Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C.7:50-6.84(a)6) 

 

The proposed development will result in a decrease of impervious surfaces by 2,664 square feet. There 

will be no increase in the volume and rate of stormwater runoff from the project after the development 

than occurred prior to the proposed development. The proposed development is consistent with the CMP 

stormwater management standard.  

 

Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 

 

The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel. Based 

upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 

not required. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Notice to required land owners within 200 feet 

of the above referenced parcel was completed on June 18, 2020. Newspaper public notice was 

completed on June 19, 2020. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s website 

on July 9, 2020. The Commission’s public comment period closed on August 14, 2020. The 

Commission received two written requests for a copy of the development plan, which the staff provided.  

No additional requests for information or comments were received.   

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of 14 sheets, prepared by Remington & Vernick Engineers and dated 

as follows: 

 



3 

Sheets 1-3 & 5-14 - October 2, 2019 

Sheet 4 -October 5, 2018; last revised December 19, 2019 

 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on September 7, 2020 and include the 

following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 



 

Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery X    Irick X    Pikolycky X    
Christy X    Jannarone   X  Quinn   X  

Earlen X    Lloyd X    Rohan Green   X  

Howell X    Lohbauer X    Prickett X    
       *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 

Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:  September 11, 2020   

 

   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 

Executive Director  Chairman 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION  

 

NO. PC4-20-  27  

 

TITLE:  Approving With Conditions an Application for Public Development (Application Number 

1982-2787.003) 

 

Commissioner  Avery  moves and Commissioner   Lohbauer  

seconds the motion that: 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the Public Development Application Report and 

the recommendation of the Executive Director that the following application for Public Development be 

approved with conditions: 

1982-2787.003 

Applicant: Monroe Township  

Municipality: Monroe Township 

Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 

Date of Report:  August 20, 2020 

Proposed Development: Construction of a 4,550 square foot addition to a municipal fire 

station and associated site improvements. 

WHEREAS, in a prior application (App. No. 1982-2787.002) to the Commission for construction of a 

communications tower, the applicant proposed to re-vegetate approximately 4,700 square feet of a 

required buffer to wetlands that was cleared on the parcel and that re-vegetation has not occurred, and   

WHEREAS, not completing the proposed re-vegetation of the required buffer to wetlands continues to 

constitute a violation of the wetland protection standards of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management 

Plan (CMP); and  

WHEREAS, the subsequent placement of two 100 square foot storage containers within the previously 

cleared required buffer to wetlands on the parcel also constitutes a violation of the wetlands protection 

standards of the  CMP; and  

WHEREAS, the applicant proposes to address these two violations by re-vegetating the cleared 

wetlands buffer and removing the two storage containers, both by November 30, 2020; and   

WHEREAS, no request for a hearing before the Office of Administrative Law concerning the Executive 

Director’s recommendation has been received for this application; and 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the Conclusion of the Executive Director for the 

proposed development; and 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby determines that the proposed public development 

conforms to the standards for approving an application for public development set forth in N.J.A.C. 

7:50-4.57 if the conditions recommended by the Executive Director are imposed; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force or 

effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes 

of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 

expiration of the review period and Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 

effective upon such approval. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Application Number 1982-2787.003 for public 

development is hereby approved subject to the conditions recommended by the Executive Director. 



 

 

        

August 20, 2020 

 

 

Joseph P. Marino, III (via email) 

Monroe Township Municipal Building 

125 Virginia Avenue 

Williamstown, NJ 08094 

 

 Re: Application # 1982-2787.003 

  Block 8601, Lot 24 

  Block 8708, Lot 1 

  Monroe Township 

 

Dear Mr. Marino: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of a 4,550 square 

foot addition to a municipal fire station and associated site improvements. Enclosed is a copy of a 

Public Development Application Report. On behalf of the Commission’s Executive Director, I am 

recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the application with conditions at its 

September 11, 2020 meeting. 

 

In a prior application to the Commission for construction of a communications tower (App. 

No. 1982-2787.002), the applicant proposed to re-vegetate approximately 4,700 square feet of 

wetlands buffer that had been disturbed on the parcel. The proposed re-vegetation has not 

occurred. The current application proposes to re-vegetate the disturbed area within the 

wetlands buffer by November 30, 2020. Additionally, two 100 square foot storage containers 

have been placed within the required buffer to wetlands on the parcel. The current application 

proposes to remove these storage containers by November 30, 2020. Both the disturbance of 

the wetlands buffer and the placement of the two storage containers in the wetlands buffer 

constitute violations of the wetland protection standards of the Monroe Township land use 

ordinance and the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan.  

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure 

attached to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve 

the recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 



 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 
 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 

c: Secretary, Monroe Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Monroe Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Monroe Township Environmental Commission (via email) 

 Secretary, Gloucester County Planning Board (via email) 

 Andrew Banff (via email) 
  

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Joseph P. Marino, III (via email) 

Monroe Township Municipal Building 

125 Virginia Avenue 

Williamstown, NJ 08094 

 

Application No.: 1982-2787.003 

   Block 8601, Lot 24 

   Block 8708, Lot 1 

   Monroe Township 

 

This application proposes construction of a 4,550 square foot addition to a municipal fire station and 

associated site improvements located on the above referenced 3.15 acre parcel in Monroe Township.   

 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.5) provides that the Commission’s 

Executive Director, after consultation with the Chairperson of the Pinelands Commission, may authorize  

immediate action when it is necessary to remedy a condition dangerous to life, health or safety.  On July 

29, 2020, the Commission’s Executive Director, after consultation with the Chairperson of the 

Commission, issued a letter authorizing the immediate construction of the proposed fire station addition 

to eliminate a public safety condition. The Commission’s July 29, 2020 letter required that an after-the-

fact application for the proposed development be completed with the Commission. This application 

satisfies that requirement.    

 

In a prior application to the Commission for construction of a communications tower (App. No. 1982-

2787.002), the applicant proposed to re-vegetate approximately 4,700 square feet of wetlands buffer that 

had been disturbed on the parcel. The proposed re-vegetation has not occurred. The current application 

proposes to re-vegetate the disturbed area within the wetlands buffer by November 30, 2020. 

Additionally, two storage containers have been placed within the required buffer to wetlands on the 

parcel. The current application proposes to remove these storage containers by November 30, 2020.  

Both the disturbance of the wetlands buffer and the placement of the two 100 square foot storage 

containers in the wetlands buffer constitute violations of the wetland protection standards of the Monroe 

Township land use ordinance and the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan.  

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

CMP. The following reviews the CMP standards that are relevant to this application:  

 



2 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28(a)) 

 

The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. The proposed development is a permitted 

land use in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.  

 

Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.6) 

 

There are wetlands located on the above referenced parcel. Based upon the location of the proposed 

development and the location of existing development closer to wetlands, the applicant has 

demonstrated that the proposed development will not result in a significant adverse impact on wetlands. 

 

To resolve the violation of the wetland protection standards of the Monroe Township land use ordinance 

and the CMP, the applicant proposes to re-vegetate a previously disturbed area in the required buffer to 

wetlands with native vegetation and remove two storage containers from the required buffer to wetlands.  

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within existing impervious and stoned areas and an area 

occupied by a portion of the existing fire station building.  

 

Water Quality Standard (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.83) 

 

The parcel is serviced by public sanitary sewer. 

 

Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 

 

The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel. Based 

upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 

not required. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Notice to required land owners within 200 feet 

of the above referenced parcel was completed on July 9, 2020. Newspaper public notice was completed 

on July 9, 2020. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s website on July 30, 

2020. The Commission’s public comment period closed on August 14, 2020. No public comment was 

received by the Commission regarding the application.  

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the site plan, consisting of eleven sheets, prepared by Pennoni Associates, Inc. and dated 

as follows: 

 

Sheets 1, 3-5 & 9 - February 24, 2020; revised July 23, 2020 

Sheets 2, 6, 7 & 11 - February 24, 2020 

Sheet 8 - July 23, 2020 

Sheet 10 - February 24, 2020; revised August 5, 2020 

 



3 

Restoration Plan, consisting of one sheet, prepared by Pennoni Associates, Inc., dated 

July 9, 2020 and revised August 5, 2020 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

5. Appropriate measures shall be taken during construction to preclude sedimentation from 

entering wetlands and shall be maintained in place until all development has been 

completed and the area has been stabilized. 

6. The applicant shall remove two storage containers and re-vegetate the approximately 

4,700 square foot area by November 30, 2020. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on September 7, 2020 and include the 

following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 



Record of Commission Votes 
 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery X    Irick X    Pikolycky X    
Christy X    Jannarone   X  Quinn   X  
Earlen X    Lloyd X    Rohan Green   X  
Howell X    Lohbauer X    Prickett X    

       *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:  September 11, 2020   

 
   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 
Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION  

 
NO. PC4-20- 28   

 
TITLE:  Approving With Conditions an Application for Public Development (Application Number 

1985-0462.005) 
 

Commissioner   Lohbauer  moves and Commissioner   Irick  
seconds the motion that: 

 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the Public Development Application Report and 
the recommendation of the Executive Director that the following application for Public Development be 
approved with conditions: 
 

1985-0462.005 
Applicant: Ocean County Department of Planning 
Municipality: Manchester Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Forest Area 
 Pinelands Town 
Date of Report:  August 21, 2020 
Proposed Development: Thinning of 152 acres of forest to create a forest fire fuel break 
 

WHEREAS, no request for a hearing before the Office of Administrative Law concerning the Executive 
Director’s recommendation has been received for this application; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the Conclusion of the Executive Director for the 
proposed development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby determines that the proposed public development 
conforms to the standards for approving an application for public development set forth in N.J.A.C. 
7:50-4.57 if the conditions recommended by the Executive Director are imposed; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force or 
effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes 
of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period and Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Application Number 1985-0462.005 for public 
development is hereby approved subject to the conditions recommended by the Executive Director. 
 



 

Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery X    Irick X    Pikolycky X    
Christy X    Jannarone   X  Quinn   X  

Earlen X    Lloyd X    Rohan Green   X  

Howell X    Lohbauer X    Prickett X    
       *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 

Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:  September 11, 2020   

 

   

Nancy Wittenberg   

Executive Director   

 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION  

 

NO. PC4-20-  29  

 

TITLE:  Approving With Conditions an Application for Public Development (Application Number 

1985-0949.039) 

 

Commissioner  Lohbauer  moves and Commissioner   Irick  

seconds the motion that: 
 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the Public Development Application Report and 

the recommendation of the Executive Director that the following application for Public Development be 

approved with conditions: 

 

1985-0949.039 

Applicant: Ocean County 

Municipality: Lacey Township 

Management Area: Pinelands Forest Area 

 Pinelands Preservation Area District 

Date of Report:  August 20, 2020 

Proposed Development: Construction of an 8,653 square foot salt storage dome at Ocean 

County maintenance facility. 

 

WHEREAS, 13,000 square feet on the parcel was cleared and utilized for the storage of vehicles 

without application to, and approval by, the Commission and this development constitutes a violation of 

the application requirements of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP); and 

 

WHEREAS, the applicant has addressed this violation by removing the vehicles and submitting a re-

vegetation plan proposing to plant approximately 450 Pitch pines in the 13,000 square foot cleared area; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, no request for a hearing before the Office of Administrative Law concerning the Executive 

Director’s recommendation has been received for this application; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the Conclusion of the Executive Director for the 

proposed development; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby determines that the proposed public development 

conforms to the standards for approving an application for public development set forth in N.J.A.C. 

7:50-4.57 if the conditions recommended by the Executive Director are imposed; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force or 

effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes 

of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 

expiration of the review period and Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 

effective upon such approval. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Application Number 1985-0949.039 for public 

development is hereby approved subject to the conditions recommended by the Executive Director. 

 



 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Michael Fiure, Director of Management and Budget (via email) 

Ocean County 

PO Box 2191 

Toms River, NJ 08753 

 

 Re: Application # 1985-0949.039 

  Block 2825, Lot 3 

  Lacey Township 

 

Dear Mr. Fiure: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of an 8,653 square 

foot salt storage dome at Ocean County maintenance facility. The application also proposes three 

storage buildings. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On behalf of the 

Commission’s Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the 

application with conditions at its September 11, 2020 meeting. 

 

A 13,000 square foot area on the parcel was cleared and utilized for the storage of vehicles without 

application to the Commission. This development constitutes a violation of the application 

requirements of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The applicant has 

removed the vehicles and submitted a re-vegetation plan proposing to plant approximately 450 

Pitch pines in the concerned 13,000 square foot area. 

  

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

 



Enc: Appeal Procedure 

c: Secretary, Lacey Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Lacey Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Lacey Township Environmental Commission (via email) 

 Secretary, Ocean County Planning Board (via email) 

 Matthew Smith (via email) 

 Massimo Yezzi, Jr. (via email) 

  

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Michael Fiure, Director of Management and Budget (via email) 

Ocean County 

PO Box 2191 

Toms River, NJ 08753 

 

Application No.: 1985-0949.039 

   Block 2825, Lot 3 

   Lacey Township 

 

This application proposes construction of an 8,653 square foot salt storage dome at Ocean County 

maintenance facility located on the above referenced 358.41 acre parcel in Lacey Township. This 

application also proposes the construction of two 663 square foot storage buildings and a 4,800 square 

foot storage building. The County maintenance facility is located immediately adjacent to, but is not a 

part of the Robert Miller Airport.   

 

The applicant proposes to demolish five existing storage buildings, less than 50 years old, on the parcel. 

The demolition of a building (structure) less than 50 year old does not require the completion of an 

application to the Commission. The five existing storage buildings contain approximately 12,700 square 

feet. 

 

A 13,000 square foot area on the parcel was cleared and utilized for the storage of vehicles without 

application to the Commission. This development constitutes a violation of the application requirements 

of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The applicant has removed the vehicles and 

submitted a re-vegetation plan proposing to plant approximately 450 Pitch pines in the concerned 13,000 

square foot area. 

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

CMP. The following reviews the CMP standards that are relevant to this application.  

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.2) 

 

The parcel is located partially in the Pinelands Preservation Area District (358 acres) and partially in a 

Pinelands Forest Area (0.41 acres).  The proposed development will be located within the Preservation 

Area District portion of the parcel.  The maintenance facility existed prior to January 14, 1981, the date 

the CMP was adopted and is a pre-existing nonconforming use in the Preservation Area District. The 



2 

CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.2(b)) permits a fifty percent expansion of a nonconforming use in the 

Preservation Area District provided the area of the expansion does not exceed fifty percent of the area of 

the use or the capacity of the use, whichever is applicable, existing on January 14, 1981. Prior to January 

14, 1981, the maintenance facility occupied approximately five acres of the parcel. The development 

subject of this application will be located in the five acre portion of the parcel that was developed as a 

maintenance facility as of January 14, 1981. The proposed development constitutes a less than fifty 

percent expansion of the area of the use existing as of January 14, 1981. The area of the development 

subject of this application meets the CMP fifty percent expansion provision and is a permitted land use.  

  

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located over existing paved surfaces. No clearing or soil disturbance 

is required for the proposed development. 

 

Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 

 

The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel. Based 

upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 

not required. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Notice to required land owners within 200 feet 

of the above referenced parcel was completed on June 29, 2020. Newspaper public notice was 

completed on July 2, 2020. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s website on 

July 20, 2020. The Commission’s public comment period closed on August 14, 2020.  No public 

comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of four sheets (Sheets 4-7), prepared by O'Donnell, Stanton & 

Associates, Inc., all sheets dated March 30, 2017 and last revised February 14, 2020. 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

4. The concerned 13,000 square foot area shall be revegetated in accordance with the above 

referenced plan by November 30, 2020. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on September 7, 2020 and include the 

following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 



 

Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery X    Irick X    Pikolycky X    
Christy X    Jannarone   X  Quinn   X  

Earlen X    Lloyd X    Rohan Green   X  

Howell X    Lohbauer X    Prickett X    
       *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 

Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:  September 11, 2020   

 

   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 

Executive Director  Chairman 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION  

 

NO. PC4-20- 30   

 

TITLE:  Approving With Conditions Applications for Public Development (Application Numbers 1992-

0102.007 & 1999-0303.002) 

 

Commissioner   Lohbauer  moves and Commissioner   Lloyd  

seconds the motion that: 
 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the Public Development Application Reports and 

the recommendation of the Executive Director that the following applications for Public Development 

be approved with conditions: 

 

1992-0102.007 

Applicant: New Jersey Division of Property Management & Construction 

Municipality: Washington Township 

Management Area: Pinelands Preservation Area District 

Date of Report:  August 20, 2020 

Proposed Development: Construction of a 2,400 square foot storage building for the New 

Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Division of 

Marine Law Enforcement; and 

 

1999-0303.002 

Applicant: Borough of Medford Lakes 

Municipality: Borough of Medford Lakes 

Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 

Date of Report:  August 20, 2020 

Proposed Development: Construction of a walking path and dock at the Medford Lake 

Municipal Building. 

 

WHEREAS, no request for a hearing before the Office of Administrative Law concerning the Executive 

Director’s recommendation has been received for any of these applications; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the Conclusion of the Executive Director for 

each of the proposed developments; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby determines that each of the proposed public 

developments conform to the standards for approving an application for public development set forth in 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57 if the conditions recommended by the Executive Director are imposed; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force or 

effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes 

of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 

expiration of the review period and Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 

effective upon such approval. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Application Numbers 1992-0102.007 & 1999-

0303.002 for public development are hereby approved subject to the conditions recommended by the 

Executive Director. 



 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Eugene Cardone 

New Jersey Division of Property Management & Construction (via email) 

20 West State Street 3rd Floor 

Trenton, NJ 08608 

 

 Re: Application # 1992-0102.007 

  Block 53.01, Lot 26 

  Washington Township 

 

Dear Mr. Cardone: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of a 2,400 square 

foot storage building for the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. Enclosed is a copy of 

a Public Development Application Report.  On behalf of the Commission’s Executive Director, I am 

recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the application with conditions at its September 

11, 2020 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 

c: Secretary, Washington Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Washington Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Secretary, Burlington County Planning Board (via email) 

 Dante Guzzi, PE (via email) 



  

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Eugene Cardone 

New Jersey Division of Property Management & Construction (via email) 

20 West State Street 3rd Floor 

Trenton, NJ 08608 

 

Application No.: 1992-0102.007 

   Block 53.01, Lot 26 

   Washington Township 

 

This application proposes construction of a 2,400 square foot storage building for the New Jersey 

Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), Division of Marine Law Enforcement on the above 

referenced 321.37 acre parcel in Washington Township. The parcel is owned by the NJDEP. There is an 

existing maintenance facility for Wharton State Forest located on the parcel.   

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application:  

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.2) 

 

The parcel is located in the Pinelands Preservation Area District.  The maintenance facility existed prior 

to January 14, 1981, the date the CMP was adopted and is a pre-existing nonconforming use in the 

Preservation Area District. The CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.2(b)) permits a fifty percent expansion of a 

nonconforming use in the Preservation Area District provided the area of the expansion does not exceed 

fifty percent of the area of the use or the capacity of the use, whichever is applicable, existing on 

January 14, 1981. Prior to January 14, 1981, the maintenance facility was comprised of eight buildings 

with a total area of 11,625 square feet.  There are six buildings currently located on the parcel 

comprising a total area of 10,052 square feet. The proposed 2,400 square foot storage building will 

constitute a less than fifty percent expansion of the building area existing as of January 14, 1981. The 

proposed storage building subject of this application meets the CMP fifty percent expansion of a non-

conforming use provision and is a permitted land use.  

 

 

 

 



2 

Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.6) 

 

There are wetlands located on the parcel.  The proposed development, including clearing and land 

disturbance, will be located at least 300 feet from wetlands. 

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located in an existing maintained grassed area with sparse trees.  The 

proposed clearing and soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the 

proposed development. 

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant proposes natural re-vegetation.   

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The CMP defines the proposed development as “minor” development. The CMP does not require public 

notice for minor public development applications. The application was designated as complete on the 

Commission’s website on July 22, 2020. The Commission’s public comment period closed on August 

14, 2020. No public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of two sheets, prepared by Dante Guzzi Engineering Associates, both 

sheets dated October 16, 2019 and last revised June 3, 2020. 

 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on September 7, 2020 and include the 

following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 



 

 

       August 20, 2020 

 

Robert Burton (via email) 

Borough of Medford Lakes 

1 Cabin Circle Drive 

Medford Lakes, NJ 08055 

 

 Re: Application # 1999-0303.002 

  Block 30001, Lot 1.01 

  Borough of Medford Lakes 

 

Dear Mr. Burton: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of a walking path 

and dock at the Borough of Medford Lakes Municipal Building. Enclosed is a copy of a Public 

Development Application Report.  On behalf of the Commission’s Executive Director, I am 

recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the application with conditions at its September 

11, 2020 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 

c: Secretary, Borough of Medford Lakes Planning Board (via email) 

 Borough of Medford Lakes Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Borough of Medford Lakes Environmental Commission (via email) 

 Secretary, Burlington County Planning Board (via email) 

 C. Jeremy Noll, PE (via email) 



  

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       August 20, 2020 

Robert Burton (via email) 

Borough of Medford Lakes 

1 Cabin Circle Drive 

Medford Lakes, NJ 08055 

 

Application No.: 1999-0303.002 

   Block 30001, Lot 1.01 

   Borough of Medford Lakes 

 

This application proposes construction of a walking path and dock on the above referenced 0.45 acre 

parcel in the Borough of Medford Lakes. The Borough of Medford Lakes Municipal Building is located 

on the parcel.  

 

This application proposes 175 linear feet of four feet wide walking path. The walking path will be 

surfaced with permeable pavers. The proposed 18 foot long dock will be located on Ballinger Lake. The 

applicant also proposes native landscaping and interpretive signs.  

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application:  

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28) 

 

The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. The proposed development is a permitted 

land use in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. 

 

Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.12(b) & 6.13) 

 

There are wetlands located within 300 feet of the proposed development. The proposed dock will result 

in the disturbance of 160 square feet of open water wetlands. The proposed walkway will be located 

within 300 feet of wetlands.    

 

The CMP permits public docks in wetlands provided the applicant demonstrates that certain conditions 

are met.  The applicant has demonstrated that there is a need for the facility that cannot be met by 

existing facilities and that the development conforms with all state and federal regulations.  In addition, 

the proposed development will not result in a substantial impairment of the resources of the Pinelands. 



2 

   

The CMP permits linear improvements, such as the proposed walkway, in the required buffer to 

wetlands provided the applicant demonstrates that certain conditions are met. The applicant has 

demonstrated that there is no feasible alternative to the proposed development that does not involve 

development in wetland buffers or that will result in a less significant adverse impact to wetland buffers.  

In addition, the proposed walkway will not result in a substantial impairment of the resources of the 

Pinelands.  With the conditions below, all practical measures are being taken to mitigate the impact on 

the wetland buffer. The applicant has indicated that the proposed walkway will provide the general 

public with access to Ballinger Lake. The applicant has demonstrated that the need for the proposed 

walkway overrides the importance of protecting the wetland buffer. 

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within existing maintained grassed areas with sparse scrub 

undergrowth.  The proposed clearing and soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to 

accommodate the development.  

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant proposes to utilize a seed mixture which 

meets that recommendation. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The CMP defines the proposed improvements as “minor” development. The CMP does not require 

public notice for minor public development applications. The application was designated as complete on 

the Commission’s website on July 29, 2020. The Commission’s public comment period closed on 

August 14, 2020. No public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of five sheets, prepared by Environmental Resolutions, Inc., all sheets 

dated May 8, 2020 and last revised July 23, 2020. 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

5. Appropriate measures shall be taken during construction to preclude sedimentation from 

entering wetlands and shall be maintained in place until all development has been 

completed and the area has been stabilized. 

 

 



3 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on September 7, 2020 and include the 

following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 



 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-20-  31  
 

 
TITLE: Issuing an Order to Certify Ordinance 2020-3, Amending Ordinances 1998-4, 1998-11, and 2001-8 of 

Woodland Township. 
 

Commissioner   Avery  moves and Commissioner   Lohbauer  
seconds the motion that: 
 

 
 

WHEREAS, on September 9, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and Land 
Use Ordinances of Woodland Township; and 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-78 of the Pinelands Commission specified that any amendment to the 
Township’s certified Master Plan and Land Use Ordinances be submitted to the Executive Director in 
accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 (Submission and Review of Amendments to Certified Master Plans 
and Land Use Ordinances) of the Comprehensive Management Plan to determine if said amendment 
raises a substantial issue with respect to conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive Management 
Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-78 further specified that any such amendment shall only become 
effective as provided in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 of the Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, on June 23, 2020, Woodland Township adopted Ordinance 2020-3, amending Ordinances 
1998-4, 1998-11, and 2001-8 of Woodland Township by revising Section 1711, Resource Extraction, in 
order to extend the duration of mining permits from two to five years; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission received a certified copy of Ordinance 2020-3 on July 13, 
2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, by letter dated July 15, 2020, the Executive Director notified the Township that Ordinance 
2020-3 would require formal review and approval by the Pinelands Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing to receive testimony on Ordinance 2020-3 was duly advertised, noticed 
and remotely held on August 5, 2020 at 9:30 a.m. with live broadcast on the Pinelands Commission’s 
public YouTube channel and opportunity for the public to call in and provide oral testimony; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director has found that Ordinance 2020-3 is consistent with the standards 
and provisions of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director has submitted a report to the Commission recommending issuance 
of an order to certify that Ordinance 2020-3, amending Ordinances 1998-4, 1998-11, and 2001-8 of 
Woodland Township, is in conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission’s CMP Policy and Implementation Committee has reviewed the 
Executive Director’s report and has recommended that Ordinance 2020-3 be certified; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has duly considered all public testimony submitted to the 
Commission concerning Ordinance 2020-3 and has reviewed the Executive Director’s report; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission accepts the recommendation of the Executive Director; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force 
or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the 
minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 



 

Record of Commission Votes 
 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery X    Irick X    Pikolycky X    
Christy X    Jannarone   X  Quinn   X  
Earlen X    Lloyd X    Rohan Green   X  
Howell X    Lohbauer X    Prickett X    

 *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:  September 11, 2020   

 
   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 
Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 

2 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that  
 
1. An Order is hereby issued to certify that Ordinance 2020-3, amending Ordinances 1998-4, 1998-

11, and 2001-8 of Woodland Township, is in conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive 
Management Plan.  

 
2. Any additional amendments to Woodland Township’s certified Master Plan and Land Use 

Ordinances shall be submitted to the Executive Director in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 
to determine if said amendments raise a substantial issue with respect to the Comprehensive 
Management Plan. Any such amendment shall become effective only as provided in N.J.A.C. 
7:50-3.45.  

 



 

 
REPORT ON ORDINANCE 2020-3, AMENDING ORDINANCES  

1998-4, 1998-11, AND 2001-8 OF WOODLAND TOWNSHIP 
 

August 28, 2020 
 
 
Woodland Township 
PO Box 388 
Chatsworth, NJ 08019 
 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
I. Background 
 
The Township of Woodland is located in eastern Burlington County, in the central portion of the 
Pinelands Area. Pinelands municipalities that border Woodland Township include the Townships of 
Bass River, Pemberton, Southampton, Tabernacle, and Washington in Burlington County, and the 
Townships of Barnegat, Lacey, Manchester, and Stafford in Ocean County. 
 
On September 9, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and Land Use 
Ordinances of Woodland Township.  
 
On September 9, 1994, the Pinelands Commission adopted amendments to the Pinelands 
Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP) that, among other things, provided Pinelands Area 
municipalities with the option to extend the duration of mining permits from two years up to five years. 
The amendment specified that any municipality that opted to issue mining permits with durations 
exceeding two years was also required to adopt additional standards to ensure that the approved resource 
extraction activity maintains compliance with all local approvals for the duration of the permit (7:50-
6.64(a)). 
 
On June 23, 2020, Woodland Township adopted Ordinance 2020-3, amending Ordinances 1998-4, 
1998-11, and 2001-8. Ordinance 2020-3 amends Section 1711, Resource Extraction, by extending the 
duration of resource extraction permits from two to five years. The ordinance also establishes additional 
resource extraction permit approval conditions to ensure that permitted resource extraction activities 
maintain conformance with Township Land Use Board approvals. The ordinance also includes minor 
corrections to resource extraction application requirements and standards. 
 



2 
 
 
The Pinelands Commission received a certified copy of Ordinance 2020-3 on July 13, 2020. By letter 
dated July 15, 2020, the Executive Director notified the Township that Ordinance 2020-3 would require 
formal review and approval by the Pinelands Commission.  
 
 
II. Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances 
 
The following ordinance has been submitted to the Pinelands Commission for certification: 

 
* Ordinance 2020-3, amending Ordinances 1998-4, 1998-11, and 2001-8, introduced on May 27, 

2020 and adopted on June 23, 2020.  
 
This ordinance has been reviewed to determine whether it conforms with the standards for certification 
of municipal master plans and land use ordinances as set out in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39 of the Pinelands 
Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The findings from this review are presented below. The 
numbers used to designate the respective items correspond to the numbers used to identify the standards 
in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39. 
 
 
1. Natural Resource Inventory 

 
Not applicable. 
 
 

2. Required Provisions of Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances Relating to Development 
Standards 
 
Ordinance 2020-3 amends Section 1711, Resource Extraction, by extending the duration of 
resource extraction permits from two to five years. The ordinance also establishes additional 
resource extraction permit approval condition to ensure that approved resource extraction 
activities maintain compliance with Township Land Use Board approvals for the duration of the 
permit. The ordinance also includes minor corrections to resource extraction application 
requirements and standards. 
 
Ordinance 2020-3 establishes new resource extraction permit conditions. The conditions require 
that all resource extraction operators certify, in writing and on an annual basis, that all mining, 
restoration, and other activities have been, and continue to be, conducted in accordance with 
approved permits. It further provides that if the Township Land Use Board or the Commission’s 
Executive Director determines that any activity deviates from an approved permit, the operator 
shall be immediately notified of the deviation. The notice must state the nature of the deviation; 
order the action necessary to correct it; and, set forth the date, time and location of a meeting to 
be held within ten days of the notice, at which the mine operator shall present all relevant 
information concerning the deviation and the action taken or to be taken to correct it. The order 
to take corrective action must specify any activity which must be immediately ceased to prevent 
direct or indirect aggravation of the deviation or to avoid a danger to the public health, safety or 
welfare. Failure to resolve a deviation or to adhere to the terms and conditions of any agreement 
to resolve a deviation will constitute sufficient cause for revocation of the mining permit. Either 
the Township’s Land Use Board or the Executive Director may institute proceedings for 
revocation of the permit. Additionally, Ordinance 2020-3 includes minor corrections to 



3 
 
 

resource extraction application requirements and standards to account for changes in 
terminology that have been adopted through various amendments to CMP over time.  
 
The provisions included in Ordinance 2020-3 include the minimum requirements for a 
municipality to issue resource extraction permits with a five-year duration (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.64). 
Woodland Township Ordinance 2020-3 is consistent with the land use and development 
standards of the Comprehensive Management Plan.  
 
This standard for certification is met. 
 
 

3. Requirement for Certificate of Filing and Content of Development Applications 
 
As currently certified, Section 1711, Resource Extraction, of Woodland Township’s Ordinance 
1998-4, as amended, includes an extensive list of required documents that must accompany any 
resource extraction permit application. The ordinance explicitly requires that such applications 
include a Certificate of Filing from the Pinelands Commission. Ordinance 2020-3 maintains 
these application requirements, with minor corrections, and conforms to the CMP’s application 
requirements for resource extraction (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.2(b)6). 
 
Therefore, this standard for certification is met. 
 
 

4. Requirement for Municipal Review and Action on All Development 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

5. Review and Action on Forestry Applications 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

6. Review of Local Permits 
 

Woodland Township’s certified land use and development ordinances require that no local 
permit shall be effective until the Pinelands Commission’s review process has been completed 
(N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.31 through 4.42). Ordinance 2020-3 does not revise any of these procedures.  
 
However, it is noted that the CMP requires that municipalities granting resource extraction 
permits for any period exceeding two years must adopt additional standards to ensure that the 
approved mining activity maintains compliance with all local approvals for the duration of the 
permit (7:50-6.64(a)). As detailed above, Ordinance 2020-3 adequately incorporates the 
required provisions into the Township’s ordinance. 
 
Ordinance 2020-3 is consistent with the provisions of the Pinelands Comprehensive 
Management Plan relating to the review of local permits. This standard for certification is met. 
 
 



4 
 
 
7. Requirement for Capital Improvement Program 

 
Not applicable. 
 
 

8. Accommodation of Pinelands Development Credits 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

9. Referral of Development Applications to Environmental Commission 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

10. General Conformance Requirements 
 
Woodland Township Ordinance 2020-3 is consistent with the standards and provisions of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan.  
 
Therefore, this standard for certification is met. 
 
 

11. Conformance with Energy Conservation 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

12. Conformance with the Federal Act 
 
Woodland Township Ordinance 2020-3 is consistent with the standards and provisions of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan. No special issues exist relative to the Federal Act.  
 
Therefore, this standard for certification is met. 
 
 

13. Procedure to Resolve Intermunicipal Conflicts 
 
Not applicable. 

  



5 
 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
A public hearing to receive testimony concerning Woodland Township’s application for certification of 
Ordinance 2020-3 was duly advertised, noticed and held on August 5, 2020 at 9:30 a.m. Ms. Grogan 
conducted the hearing, which was held remotely and broadcasted live on the Pinelands Commission’s 
public YouTube channel. The public was provided the opportunity to call in during the public hearing to 
provide oral testimony. No such testimony was received. 
 
Written comments on Ordinance 2020-3 were accepted through August 10, 2020. However, no written 
comments were received. 
 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
Based on the Findings of Fact cited above, the Executive Director has concluded that Ordinance 2020-3, 
amending Ordinances 1998-4, 1998-11, and 2001-8 of Woodland Township, complies with the 
Comprehensive Management Plan standards for the certification of municipal master plans and land use 
ordinances. Accordingly, the Executive Director recommends that the Commission issue an order to 
certify Ordinance 2020-3 of Woodland Township.  
 
 
SRG/DBL/CWO 



 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-20-    
 

 
TITLE: Issuing an Order to Certify Manchester Township Ordinance 20-022, Adopting the Whiting Landfill 

Redevelopment Plan. 
 
 

Commissioner     moves and Commissioner     
seconds the motion that: 
 

 
 

WHEREAS, on July 8, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and Land Use 
Ordinances of Manchester Township; and 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-59 of the Pinelands Commission specified that any amendment to the 
Township’s certified Master Plan and codified Land Use Ordinances be submitted to the Executive 
Director in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 (Submission and Review of Amendments to Certified 
Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances) of the Comprehensive Management Plan to determine if said 
amendment raises a substantial issue with respect to conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive 
Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-59 further specified that any such amendment shall only become 
effective as provided in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 of the Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, on July 13, 2020, Manchester Township adopted Ordinance 20-022, approving a 
Redevelopment Plan for the Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Area, which is located in the Pinelands 
Preservation Area District; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission received a certified copy of Ordinance 20-022 on July 21, 
2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, by letter dated July 29, 2020, the Executive Director notified the Township that Ordinance 
20-022 would require formal review and approval by the Pinelands Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing to receive testimony on Ordinance 20-022 was duly advertised, noticed 
and remotely held on September 2, 2020 at 9:30 a.m. with live broadcast on the Pinelands Commission’s 
public YouTube channel and opportunity for the public to call-in during the live broadcast; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director has found that Ordinance 20-022 is consistent with the standards 
and provisions of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director has submitted a report to the Commission recommending issuance 
of an order to certify that Ordinance 20-022, adopting the Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Plan, is in 
conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission’s CMP Policy and Implementation Committee has reviewed the 
Executive Director’s report and has recommended that Ordinance 20-022 be certified; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has duly considered all public testimony submitted to the 
Commission concerning Ordinance 20-022 and has reviewed the Executive Director’s report; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission accepts the recommendation of the Executive Director; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force 
or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the 
minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 



 

  
Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 
Avery     Irick     Pikolycky     
Christy     Jannarone     Quinn     
Earlen     Lloyd     Rohan Green     
Howell     Lohbauer     Prickett     

 *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:     

 
   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 
Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 

2 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that  
 
1. An Order is hereby issued to certify that Manchester Township Ordinance 20-022, adopting the 

Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Plan, is in conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive 
Management Plan.  

 
2. Any additional amendments to Manchester Township’s certified Master Plan and Land Use 

Ordinances shall be submitted to the Executive Director in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 
to determine if said amendments raise a substantial issue with respect to the Comprehensive 
Management Plan. Any such amendment shall become effective only as provided in N.J.A.C. 
7:50-3.45.  

 



 

 
REPORT ON MANCHESTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE 20-022,  

ADOPTING THE WHITING LANDFILL REDEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 

September 25, 2020 
 
 
Township of Manchester 
1 Colonial Drive 
Manchester, NJ 08759 
 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
I. Background 
 
The Township of Manchester is located in the northern portion of the Pinelands Area in northwestern 
Ocean County. Pinelands municipalities adjacent to Manchester Township include the Borough of 
Lakehurst and the Townships of Berkeley, Jackson, Lacey, Plumsted, and Toms River in Ocean County, 
and the Townships of Pemberton and Woodland in Burlington County.  
 
On July 8, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and Land Use Ordinances of 
Manchester Township applicable to that portion of the municipality located in the state-designated 
Pinelands Area. 
 
On July 13, 2020, Manchester Township adopted Ordinance 20-022, approving a Redevelopment Plan 
for the Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Area, which is located in the Pinelands Preservation Area 
District. The Redevelopment Plan is intended to facilitate the closure of the existing municipal landfill in 
accordance with New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) and Pinelands 
Comprehensive Management Plan regulations as well as the development of a solar energy facility. It is 
noted that Manchester Township has been selected as one of the conditionally approved applicants in the 
Year 1 Community Solar Energy Pilot Program administered by the New Jersey Board of Public 
Utilities. The conditionally approved application is for a 3.2 MW community solar project at the 
Whiting Landfill. The solar facility is expected to offset the costs associated with the appropriate landfill 
closure. 
 
The Pinelands Commission received a certified copy of Ordinance 20-022 on July 21, 2020. By letter 
dated July 29, 2020, the Executive Director notified the Township that Ordinance 20-022 would require 
formal review and approval by the Pinelands Commission.   



2 
 
 
II. Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances 
 
The following ordinance has been submitted to the Pinelands Commission for certification: 

 
* Ordinance 20-022, Adopting the Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Plan, introduced on June 22, 

2020 and adopted on July 13, 2020.  
 
This ordinance has been reviewed to determine whether it conforms with the standards for certification 
of municipal master plans and land use ordinances as set out in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39 of the Pinelands 
Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The findings from this review are presented below. The 
numbers used to designate the respective items correspond to the numbers used to identify the standards 
in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39. 
 
 
1. Natural Resource Inventory 

 
Not applicable. 
 
 

2. Required Provisions of Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances Relating to Development 
Standards 
 
Ordinance 20-022 adopts the Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Plan, dated July 14, 2020. The 
Redevelopment Area encompasses approximately 98.64 acres and consists of a single lot (Block 
116, Lot 13) that is owned by Manchester Township. The Redevelopment Area is located 
entirely within the Township’s Pinelands Preservation Area (PPA) zoning district and the 
Pinelands Preservation Area District management area (see Exhibit 2). It is the site of the former 
Whiting Landfill as well as several existing municipal facilities, including a firearms training 
range, vegetative composting center, recycling center, and salt storage shed (see Exhibit 1).  
 
The goals of the Redevelopment Plan are to complete the capping and closure of the former 
landfill, provide the Township with a source of renewable energy, encourage municipal action to 
guide the appropriate development of the site, ensure the development is in conformance with 
the standards of the Pinelands Preservation Area, and promote sustainable development.  
 
To effectuate those goals, the Redevelopment Plan establishes the Whiting Landfill 
Redevelopment Overlay (WLRO) District. The WLRO district encompasses the entirety of the 
Redevelopment Area and is limited to only Block 116, Lot 13. The underlying regulations of the 
PPA district remain in effect for the Redevelopment Area, except where explicitly modified by 
the Redevelopment Plan. Permitted uses in the WLRO district include: all principal uses 
permitted in the underlying PPA zoning district; existing municipal facilities, including two non-
conforming uses (the firearms training range and salt shed) as well as the recycling center and 
composting facility; and major solar or photovoltaic energy facilities. All development in the 
Redevelopment Area remains subject to the minimum environmental standards set forth in the 
Township’s land use ordinance and the CMP. 
 
 

  



3 
 
 

Permitted Uses in the Underlying Pinelands Preservation Area Zone 
The WLRO district continues to permit those uses already permitted by the underlying Pinelands 
Preservation Area (PPA) zoning district. Permitted uses in the PPA district are limited to: 
residential dwelling units that meet the standards for cultural housing; agricultural employee 
housing as an element of, and accessory to, an active agricultural operation; berry agriculture and 
horticulture of native plants; forestry; beekeeping; fish and wildlife management and wetlands 
management; low-intensity recreation uses; continuation of existing intensive recreational uses; 
continuation of existing resource extraction operations; and public service infrastructure  that is 
necessary to serve only the needs of the PPA zoning district uses. 
 
Existing Municipal Uses 
The WLRO district permits four additional uses in recognition of the active municipal facilities 
within the Redevelopment Area. In particular, municipal recycling centers and composting 
facilities are permitted in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.76(a) and N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.77(b), 
respectively. The continuation of existing nonconforming municipal facilities (the previously 
mentioned firearms training range and salt storage shed) is also permitted pursuant to N.J.A.C. 
7:50-5.2. 
 
The existing recycling center and composting facility in the Redevelopment Area were approved 
by the Commission in 1990, subject to conditions, as part of a Public Development Application 
that also included a landfill closure plan discussed below (Application #1981-2232.001). The 
Township has initiated, but not completed, an application to the Commission for development 
activities related to the firearms training range and salt shed (Application #1981-2232.003). Any 
expansion of a nonconforming use would be subject to the approval of a Public Development 
Application by the Pinelands Commission and limited by the provisions of N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.2. 
This section of the CMP provides municipalities with the option of permitting the continuation of 
any nonconforming use, provided that such use is not abandoned. Municipalities may also permit 
the expansion of such nonconforming uses, provided that such expansion is in accordance with 
the minimum environmental standards of the CMP and the area of expansion does not exceed 
50% of the area or capacity of the use on January 14, 1981. 
 
Major Solar or Photovoltaic Energy Facility 
The WLRO district permits Major Solar or Photovoltaic Energy Facilities in accordance with a 
series of design standards included in the Redevelopment Plan. These standards are in 
accordance with the CMP’s solar energy facility standards for the Preservation Area District 
(N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.36). The Redevelopment Plan specifies that solar facilities are permitted only 
on an existing landfill that has been closed and capped in accordance with the Pinelands CMP. 
Solar facilities can only be located on those portions of the parcel comprised of previously 
disturbed lands that have not been restored or on other portions of the parcel that are required to 
be disturbed for purposes of landfill closure (see Exhibit 3). The need to use such other lands 
must be demonstrated by submitting a comprehensive application for landfill closure to the 
Pinelands Commission.  The Redevelopment Plan also limits the clearing of land for new or 
expansion of existing on-site or off-site infrastructure to that which is necessary to accommodate 
the solar facility. The above-grade height of any solar structures is limited to 20 feet. Lastly, the 
Redevelopment Plan includes requirements for the decommissioning of the solar facility and 
restoration of land within 12 months of the cessation of use.  
 

  



4 
 
 

Landfill Closure 
As noted previously, the Redevelopment Plan is intended to facilitate the appropriate closure of 
the Whiting Landfill in accordance with the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection 
(NJDEP) and Pinelands CMP regulations. Upon adoption of the CMP for the Preservation Area, 
effective September 23, 1980, existing landfills in the Preservation Area were required to cease 
operation immediately. The CMP requires that all landfills in the Preservation Area that ceased 
operation after that date be capped with an impermeable material or otherwise appropriately 
closed (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.75(c)).  
 
On November 2, 1990, the Pinelands Commission approved a landfill closure plan for the 
Whiting Landfill that called for an impermeable cap (Application #1981-2232.001). However, 
due to financial constraints, the Township has yet to cap or appropriately close the landfill in 
accordance with the CMP and the approved closure plan.  
 
In 2012, the Pinelands Commission contracted with the United State Geological Survey (USGS) 
to develop a screening tool to model the potential for landfill leachate to contaminate wells, 
wetlands or surface water bodies in proximity to Pinelands Area landfills. The goal of the project 
was to rapidly assess and rank the relative cause for concern at each landfill that had not been 
capped. The rapid assessment tool that was developed indicated that the Whiting Landfill posed 
a “high level of concern” for potential migration of landfill leachate constituents and a resultant 
impact on Pinelands streams, wetlands, and wells. This was a preliminary assessment only and is 
not based on data from monitoring wells or test pits. The Township recently began working with 
Commission staff to develop plans detailing the hydrogeologic framework of the site. The 
Township and Commission staff will jointly reevaluate methods for appropriately closing the 
Whiting Landfill and ultimately will make a recommendation to the Commission as to whether 
an impermeable cap remains necessary. The Township’s landfill closure plans are the subject of 
a pending Pinelands Public Development Application, which must be completed prior to or 
simultaneously with any application for a community solar facility in the Redevelopment Area.  

 
Ordinance 20-022 is consistent with the land use and development standards of the 
Comprehensive Management Plan. Therefore, this standard for certification is met. 
 
 

3. Requirement for Certificate of Filing and Content of Development Applications 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

4. Requirement for Municipal Review and Action on All Development 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

5. Review and Action on Forestry Applications 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

  



5 
 
 
6. Review of Local Permits 

 
Not applicable. 
 
 

7. Requirement for Capital Improvement Program 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

8. Accommodation of Pinelands Development Credits 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

9. Referral of Development Applications to Environmental Commission 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

10. General Conformance Requirements 
 
Ordinance 20-022 is consistent with the standards and provisions of the Pinelands 
Comprehensive Management Plan. Therefore, this standard for certification is met. 
 
 

11. Conformance with Energy Conservation 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

12. Conformance with the Federal Act 
 
Ordinance 20-022 is consistent with the standards and provisions of the Pinelands 
Comprehensive Management Plan. No special issues exist relative to the Federal Act. Therefore, 
this standard for certification is met. 
 
 

13. Procedure to Resolve Intermunicipal Conflicts 
 
The Redevelopment Plan adopted by Ordinance 20-022 does not affect lands that are adjacent to 
any other municipalities. Therefore, intermunicipal conflicts are not anticipated. This standard 
for certification is met. 
 
 
 

  



6 
 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
A public hearing to receive testimony concerning Manchester Township’s application for certification of 
Ordinance 20-022 was duly advertised, noticed and held on September 2, 2020 at 9:30 a.m. Ms. Grogan 
conducted the hearing, which was held remotely and broadcasted live on the Pinelands Commission’s 
public YouTube channel. The public was provided the opportunity to call-in during the public hearing to 
provide testimony. No testimony was received. 
 
Written comments on Ordinance 20-022 were accepted through September 7, 2020. However, no written 
comments were received. 
 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
Based on the Findings of Fact cited above, the Executive Director has concluded that Ordinance 20-022, 
adopting the Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Plan of Manchester Township, complies with the 
Comprehensive Management Plan standards for the certification of municipal master plans and land use 
ordinances. Accordingly, the Executive Director recommends that the Commission issue an order to 
certify Ordinance 20-022 of Manchester Township.  
 
 
SRG/DBL/CMT 
Attachments 



¬«70

¯
Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Plan

Existing Conditions

0 500 1,000250
Feet

Executive Director's Report
Manchester Ordinance 20-022
Exhibit 1
9/25/2020

Existing Fire Arms 
Training Range

Existing Vegetative 
Composting Facility

Existing Salt Storage
Shed

Existing Recycling
Center

Redevelopment Area

Manchester Twp Parcels



¬«70

PPA

M-I

PFA-S

PPA WTRC

PPA

WTHD

PFA-R

WTRC

WTR-A

WTO-P

WTO-P

WTRC

¬«70

Cher
ry S

t

Lacey Rd

Roosevelt City Rd

¯

Whiting Landfill Redevelopment Plan
Pinelands Management Area/Zoning

0 2,500 5,0001,250
Feet

Executive Director's Report
Manchester Ordinance 20-022
Exhibit 2
9/25/2020

Pinelands Management Areas
Preservation Area

Forest Area

Pinelands Town

Federal or Military Facility

Redevelopment Area

Manchester Twp Zoning

Manchester Twp Parcels



Monitoring Well Monitoring Well

Monitoring Well

Shooting Range

HA-1

HA-6

HA-5

HA-4

HA-3
HA-2 TP-4

TP-5

TP-2

TP-3

TP-1

N

S

EW

C
O

O
R

D
IN

A
T

E
 S

Y
ST

E
M

 N
A

D
8
3

N
E
W

 J
E
R

SE
Y

 S
T

A
T

E
 P

L
A

N
E

Customer Loyalty through Client Satisfaction
w w w . m a s e r c o n s u l t i n g . c o m

Copyright © 2020. Maser Consulting P.A. All Rights Reserved. This drawing and
all the information contained herein is authorized for use only by the party for
whom the services were contracted or to whom it is certified. This drawing may
not be copied, reused, disclosed, distributed or relied upon for any other

purpose without the express written consent of Maser Consulting, P.A.

State of N.J. Cert. of Authorization: 24GA27986500

n NEW JERSEY
• Red Bank      •  Clinton
• Hamilton      •  Egg Harbor
• Montvale      •  Mt. Arlington
• Mt. Laurel

n NEW YORK
• Albany • New Windsor
• Westchester

n NEW MEXICO
• Albuquerque

n MARYLAND
• Columbia

n TEXAS
• College Station

n COLORADO
• Denver

n FLORIDA
• Tampa • Orlando
• Miami • Jacksonville

n PENNSYLVANIA
• Lehigh Valley  • Exton
• Philadelphia    • Pittsburgh

n NORTH CAROLINA
• Charlotte • Raleigh

n VIRGINIA
• Sterling • Norfolk

n TENNESSEE
• Nashville

n INDIANA
• Lafayette

Office Locations:

C   O   N   S   U   L   T   I   N   G       P.   A.

PROTECT YOURSELF

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

R

ALL STATES REQUIRE NOTIFICATION
OF EXCAVATORS, DESIGNERS, OR

ANY PERSON PREPARING TO
DISTURB THE EARTH'S SURFACE

ANYWHERE IN ANY STATE

FOR STATE SPECIFIC DIRECT PHONE NUMBERS
VISIT: WWW.CALL811.COM

SHEET NUMBER:

SCALE:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWN BY:DATE:

DRAWING NAME:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET TITLE:

MANCHESTER LF BASE MAP

FINAL

R
E
V

D
A

T
E

D
E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N
D

R
A

W
N

B
Y

MT. LAUREL OFFICE
2000 Midlantic Drive

Suite 100
Mount Laurel, NJ  08054

Phone: 856.797.0412
Fax: 856.722.1120

T
E
R

\M
ap

p
in

g\
M

an
ch

e
st

e
r 

L
F
 B

as
e
 M

ap
 F

IN
A

L
.d

w
g\

M
an

ch
e
st

e
r 

B
as

e
- 

D
E
L
IV

E
R

A
B

L
E
  
  
  
  
  
B

y:
 A

R
O

SS

GEOPHYSICAL
EVALUATION

Manchester Township
Landfill

BLOCK 116  LOT 13
1501 HIGHWAY 70

MANCHESTER TOWNSHIP,
OCEAN COUNTY, NJ

AS SHOWN 01/15/2020 JWV ASR

MCT-044

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

________________________

FOR

INTERPRETED EXTENT OF

LANDFILL MATERIALS

FIGURE 1

Feet
0 250 500

AutoCAD SHX Text
Legend:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Subject Property  

AutoCAD SHX Text
Interpreted Landfill Deposits Boundary

AutoCAD SHX Text
Monitoring Well

AutoCAD SHX Text
State Route 70 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 300'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Test Pit/Hand Auger 

brad.lanute
Text Box
Executive Director's ReportManchester Ordinance 20-022Exhibit 39/25/2020



 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-20-    
 

 
TITLE: Issuing an Order to Certify Winslow Township Ordinance O-2020-19, Adopting the Churchill 

Redevelopment Plan. 
 
 

Commissioner     moves and Commissioner     
seconds the motion that: 
 

 
 

WHEREAS, on April 8, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and Land Use 
Ordinances of Winslow Township; and 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-30 of the Pinelands Commission specified that any amendment to the 
Township’s certified Master Plan and codified Land Use Ordinances be submitted to the Executive 
Director in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 (Submission and Review of Amendments to Certified 
Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances) of the Comprehensive Management Plan to determine if said 
amendment raises a substantial issue with respect to conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive 
Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-30 further specified that any such amendment shall only become 
effective as provided in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 of the Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, on July 15, 2020, Winslow Township adopted Ordinance O-2020-19, approving a 
Redevelopment Plan for the Churchill Redevelopment Area, which is located in a Pinelands Regional 
Growth Area; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission received a certified copy of Ordinance O-2020-19 on July 23, 
2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, by letter dated July 28, 2020, the Executive Director notified the Township that Ordinance 
O-2020-19 would require formal review and approval by the Pinelands Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing to receive testimony on Ordinance O-2020-19 was duly advertised, 
noticed and remotely held on September 2, 2020 at 9:30 a.m. with live broadcast on the Pinelands 
Commission’s public YouTube channel and opportunity for the public to call-in during the live 
broadcast; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director has found that Ordinance O-2020-19 is consistent with the 
standards and provisions of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director has submitted a report to the Commission recommending issuance 
of an order to certify that Ordinance O-2020-19, adopting the Churchill Redevelopment Plan, is in 
conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission’s CMP Policy and Implementation Committee has reviewed the 
Executive Director’s report and has recommended that Ordinance O-2020-19 be certified; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has duly considered all public testimony submitted to the 
Commission concerning Ordinance O-2020-19 and has reviewed the Executive Director’s report; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission accepts the recommendation of the Executive Director; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force 
or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the 
minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 



 

  
Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 
Avery     Irick     Pikolycky     
Christy     Jannarone     Quinn     
Earlen     Lloyd     Rohan Green     
Howell     Lohbauer     Prickett     

 *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:     

 
   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 
Executive Director  Chairman 

 

2 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that  
 
1. An Order is hereby issued to certify that Winslow Township Ordinance O-2020-19, adopting the 

Churchill Redevelopment Plan, is in conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive 
Management Plan.  

 
2. Any additional amendments to Winslow Township’s certified Master Plan and Land Use 

Ordinances shall be submitted to the Executive Director in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 
to determine if said amendments raise a substantial issue with respect to the Comprehensive 
Management Plan. Any such amendment shall become effective only as provided in N.J.A.C. 
7:50-3.45.  

 
 



 

 

REPORT ON WINSLOW TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE O-2020-19,  

ADOPTING THE CHURCHILL REDEVELOPMENT PLAN 

 

September 25, 2020 

 

 

Winslow Township 

125 South Route 73 

Winslow Township, NJ 08037 

 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

I. Background 

 

The Township of Winslow is located on the western fringe of the Pinelands Area, in Camden County. 

Pinelands municipalities adjacent to Winslow Township's Pinelands Area include the Boroughs of 

Berlin and Chesilhurst and the Township of Waterford in Camden County, the Township of Monroe in 

Gloucester County, and the Town of Hammonton and the Borough of Folsom in Atlantic County.  

 

On April 8, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and Land Use Ordinances of 

Winslow Township. 

 

On July 15, 2020, Winslow Township adopted Ordinance O-2020-19, approving a Redevelopment Plan 

for the Churchill Redevelopment Area, which is located in the Pinelands Regional Growth Area. The 

Pinelands Commission received a certified copy of Ordinance O-2020-19 on July 23, 2020. 

 

By letter dated July 28, 2020, the Executive Director notified the Township that Ordinance O-2020-19 

would require formal review and approval by the Pinelands Commission.  
 

 

II. Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances 

 

The following ordinance has been submitted to the Pinelands Commission for certification: 

 

* Ordinance O-2020-19, adopting the Churchill Redevelopment Plan, introduced on June 9, 2020 

and adopted on July 15, 2020.  

 

This ordinance has been reviewed to determine whether it conforms with the standards for certification 

of municipal master plans and land use ordinances as set out in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39 of the Pinelands 



2 

 

 

Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The findings from this review are presented below. The 

numbers used to designate the respective items correspond to the numbers used to identify the standards 

in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39. 

 

 

1. Natural Resource Inventory 

 

Not applicable. 

 

 

2. Required Provisions of Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances Relating to Development 

Standards 

 

Ordinance O-2020-19 adopts a Redevelopment Plan, dated June 5, 2020, for the Churchill 

Redevelopment Area. This new Redevelopment Area consists of four lots (Block 2504, Lots 

4.02, 4.03, 4.04, and 7.02) and is located between NJ Route 73 and Cooper Folly Road (see 

Exhibit #1). Approximately 15 acres are included in the Redevelopment Area: 14.76 acres of that 

were previously zoned PC-2 (Pinelands Major Commercial) and 0.24 acres zoned PR-4 (High 

Density Residential). Lots 4.02, 4.03, and 4.04 contain an existing professional office, while the 

remainder of the Redevelopment Area is vacant and wooded. The entire Redevelopment Area is 

located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. 

 

The purpose of the Churchill Redevelopment Plan is to improve the tract from its current 

underutilized state and encourage redevelopment of the area with a mix of uses including 

professional offices and senior housing. To that end, the Redevelopment Plan permits the 

development of the entire tract based on the standards of the PC-2 zoning district regulations or 

based on the regulations of the two overlay zoning districts established in the Redevelopment 

Plan: the Professional Office Overlay District (approximately 6.36 acres) and the Senior 

Residential Overlay District (approximately 8.64 acres) (see Exhibit #2). 

 

The Professional Office Overlay District permits business offices, professional offices as well as 

any other uses permitted in the underlying PC-2 zoning district, which include a variety of non-

residential uses such as research facilities, hospitals, retail stores, banks, and restaurants. The 

Senior Residential Overlay District permits memory care facilities, assisted living facilities, 

independent living facilities, and any other senior residential facility that is substantially similar 

in nature and impact. Within a Regional Growth Area, the CMP provides that Pinelands 

municipalities may permit any use, except for certain waste management facilities, provided that 

residential density and opportunities for the use of Pinelands Development Credits are 

appropriately accommodated (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28). Furthermore, the CMP also expressly 

authorizes assisted living facilities as a permitted use in a Regional Growth Area provided that 

certain standards are met (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.34). Among these standards is the establishment of a 

permitted residential density applicable to assisted living facilities. Ordinance O-2020-19 

satisfies this requirement by limiting the Senior Residential Overlay District to a maximum of 

213 units (inclusive of memory care units). This is equivalent to a maximum density of 24.5 

units per acre in the Senior Residential Overlay district and approximately 14 units per acre in 

the Redevelopment Area as a whole. 

   

The permitted density in the Redevelopment Area is significantly higher than the 1.125 units per 

upland acre that is prescribed for Winslow’s Regional Growth Area by the CMP. Additionally, 



3 

 

 

the underlying zoning plan would not allow for any residential units without a variance. (The 

small portion of the tract within the PR-4 district does not meet the minimum lot size 

requirements for a single-family unit.) Therefore, by permitting 213 additional units, this 

Redevelopment Plan increases the overall residential zoning capacity of the Township’s 

Regional Growth Area. However, the CMP does provide municipalities with the ability to zone 

portions of their Regional Growth Areas for higher densities, provided that the lands in question 

are appropriate for more intensive development, infrastructure exists or can be provided to 

support the increased density and sufficient opportunities for the use of Pinelands Development 

Credits are provided (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28(a)7). As detailed below, the Churchill Redevelopment 

Area meets these standards for increased density.  

 

With respect to the appropriateness for the intensity of development permitted, it aligns with the 

Township’s long-term goals of planning for increased residential densities in proximity to NJ-73 

in order to support commercial development along NJ-73. The Churchill Redevelopment Area 

fronts NJ-73 and the Senior Residential Overlay District in particular is adjacent to the Camden 

County Library and in the vicinity of the Winslow Township Senior Center, the Winslow 

Township Middle School and High School, as well as the recently completed 264-unit Taylor 

Woods apartment complex. The Senior Residential Overlay District permits senior housing in 

structures with a maximum height of 4 stories or 60 feet in order to accommodate the increased 

density. Multiple buildings are permitted on a lot if they constitute one basic use and operation. 

A 15-foot landscaped buffer is required around the entirety of the tract. The Senior Residential 

Overlay District does not contain any wetlands or required wetlands buffer areas.  Lastly, the 

Redevelopment Plan requires that any development in the Redevelopment Area comply with the 

minimum environmental standards of the CMP.   

 

With respect to the availability of infrastructure to serve the Redevelopment Area, both water 

and sewer will be provided. Importantly, a 2017 amended Memorandum of Understanding 

between the Commission, Winslow Township and the Camden County Municipal Utilities 

Authority sets forth a plan for the provision of water to the Township’s entire Regional Growth 

Area in a manner that ensures protection to the Kirkwood/Cohansey aquifer. The Memorandum 

of Understanding requires that water from a non-Kirkwood/Cohansey source be provided to 

serve future development once water demands reach a certain threshold.  

 

The third condition for approval of increased densities and zoning capacity relates to the 

accommodation of Pinelands Development Credit opportunities. As discussed in more detail in 

Section 8 of this report, the Redevelopment Plan requires the acquisition and redemption of 

Pinelands Development Credits (PDCs) for 25% of all residential units in the Redevelopment 

Area, with limited exemptions applicable to residential units made affordable to low- and 

moderate-income households. Residential units include both assisted living and independent 

living units. Memory care facilities are considered institutional uses under the CMP and are 

therefore not subject to the PDC requirements. Thus, Pinelands Development Credit use has not 

only been accommodated, it has been guaranteed in the Redevelopment Area if any residential 

units are developed. 

 

Ordinance O-2020-019 is consistent with the land use and development standards of the 

Comprehensive Management Plan. Therefore, this standard for certification is met. 

 

 

3. Requirement for Certificate of Filing and Content of Development Applications 



4 

 

 

 

Not applicable. 

 

 

4. Requirement for Municipal Review and Action on All Development 
 

Not applicable. 

 

 

5. Review and Action on Forestry Applications 
 

Not applicable. 

 

 

6. Review of Local Permits 
 

Not applicable. 

 

 

7. Requirement for Capital Improvement Program 

 

Not applicable. 

 

 

8. Accommodation of Pinelands Development Credits 
 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39(a)8 specifies that in order to be certified by the Commission, municipal land 

use ordinances must provide for sufficient residentially zoned property, in the Regional Growth 

Area, to be eligible for an increase in density to accommodate Pinelands Development Credits 

(PDCs) as provided for in N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28(a)3.  

 

Ordinance O-2020-19 increases the amount of residentially-zoned land in Winslow Township’s 

Regional Growth Area by approximately 8.4 acres, which accounts for those lands within the 

Redevelopment Area’s Senior Residential Overlay District that were previously within the PC-2 

(Pinelands Major Commercial) zoning district. The Redevelopment Plan permits a maximum of 

213 units within the Senior Residential Overlay District. 

 

In order to comply with N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28(a)3, the Churchill Redevelopment Plan requires that 

PDCs be acquired and redeemed for 25% of all residential units within the Redevelopment Area, 

with an exception for units made affordable to low- and moderate-income households as part of 

the Township’s mandatory 20% set-aside requirement. It is important to note that such affordable 

units beyond the required 20% set-aside described above will require that PDCs be acquired and 

redeemed at the 25% rate.  

 

Based on the densities assigned to Winslow Township’s Regional Growth Area by the CMP 

(N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28), the Township is required to provide an opportunity for the development of 

residential units at a base-density of 1.125 units per acre, with a bonus-density of up to 1.69 units 

per acre achievable through the use of PDCs. Given the characteristics of the Redevelopment 

Area, the municipality is required to permit up to 9 residential units and the opportunity for an 



5 

 

 

additional 5 units through the use of PDCs. In other words, the municipality would have to allow 

for the opportunity to use 5 rights (1.25 PDCs). This traditional approach requires that 

municipalities provide the opportunity for use of PDCs for 33% of the total number of residential 

units permitted in their Regional Growth Areas.  

 

The PDC requirements adopted by Ordinance O-2020-19 will result in an opportunity for the use 

of 43 rights (10.75 Pinelands Development Credits). As described in Section 2 above, the 

municipality has elected to zone at a much higher density than required by the CMP in order to 

accommodate a certain type of residential development (assisted living and independent living 

facilities). As a result, far greater opportunities for the use of PDCs are provided than what is 

required.  

 

With respect to assisted living facilities in the Regional Growth Area, the CMP specifies that 

PDC use must be accommodated when the density of such facilities exceeds 8 units per acre. 

Rather than establishing a base density of 8 units per acre, the Churchill Redevelopment Plan 

requires that PDC use be a significant component of any assisted living project, regardless of 

density. Twenty-five percent of all assisted living facility units, excepting those that meet 

affordable housing provisions discussed above, will require the redemption of PDCs, whether an 

assisted living facility is constructed at a density that exceeds 8 units per acre or not. This 

approach is consistent with the intent of N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.34(a)(2) of the CMP. 

 

While the 25% PDC requirement is not as high a number as would be provided through the more 

traditional approach described above requiring 33%, it is important to remember that the 

traditional base-density/bonus-density approach utilized throughout the Pinelands Area only 

provides an opportunity for the use of PDCs. There is no requirement under the traditional 

approach that any PDCs be used in any particular development project. Ordinance O-2020-19 

guarantees a PDC redemption rate of 25% for the residential component of any project within 

the Redevelopment Area. Given the greater certainty provided by this approach, the Executive 

Director finds that the PDC requirements adopted by Ordinance O-2020-19 are consistent with 

CMP standards. 

 

This standard for certification is met. 

 

 

9. Referral of Development Applications to Environmental Commission 
 

Not applicable. 

 

 

10. General Conformance Requirements 
 

Ordinance O-2020-19 is consistent with the standards and provisions of the Pinelands 

Comprehensive Management Plan. Therefore, this standard for certification is met. 

 

 

11. Conformance with Energy Conservation 
 

Not applicable. 

 



6 

 

 

 

12. Conformance with the Federal Act 
 

Ordinance O-2020-19 is consistent with the standards and provisions of the Pinelands 

Comprehensive Management Plan. No special issues exist relative to the Federal Act. Therefore, 

this standard for certification is met. 

 

 

13. Procedure to Resolve Intermunicipal Conflicts 
 

The Redevelopment Plan adopted by Ordinance O-2020-19 does not affect lands that are 

adjacent to any other municipalities. Therefore, intermunicipal conflicts are not anticipated. This 

standard for certification is met. 

 

 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

A public hearing to receive testimony concerning Winslow Township’s application for certification of 

Ordinance O-2020-19 was duly advertised, noticed and held on September 2, 2020 at 9:30 a.m. Ms. 

Grogan conducted the hearing, which was held remotely and broadcasted live on the Pinelands 

Commission’s public YouTube channel. The public was provided the opportunity to call-in during the 

public hearing to provide testimony. No testimony was received. 

 

Written comments on Ordinance O-2020-19 were accepted through September 7, 2020. However, no 

written comments were received. 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

Based on the Findings of Fact cited above, the Executive Director has concluded that Ordinance O-

2020-19, adopting the Churchill Redevelopment Plan of Winslow Township, complies with the 

Comprehensive Management Plan standards for the certification of municipal master plans and land use 

ordinances. Accordingly, the Executive Director recommends that the Commission issue an order to 

certify Ordinance O-2020-19 of Winslow Township.  

 

 

SRG/DBL/CWI 

Attachments 



PC-2

PR-4

2504
4.05

2504
4.02

2502
23.01

2401
30

2504
7.02

2504
4.04

3101
19

2504
3

2504
4.03

3101
24

2502
22.01

3101
32

3101
253101

33

3101
20

3101
35

3101
36

3101
34

3101
21

3101
23

3101
22

3101
26

3101
31

2401
19

3101
30

C o o p e r  F o lly R
d

PC-2

PR-4

PR-3

PTC

Atlantic City Expy

£¤322

£¤30

¬«73

¬«54

¬«42

¯

Churchill Redevelopment Plan
Existing Conditions of Redevelopment Area

Executive Director's Report
Winslow Ordinance O-2020-19
Exhibit 1
9/25/2020

0 400 800200
Feet

¬«73

¬«73

Existing Zoning

Winslow Twp Parcels

Redevelopment Area



PC-2

PR-4

¬«73

2504
4.05

2502
23.01

2401
30

3101
19

2504
3

3101
24

2502
22.01

3101
32

3101
253101

33

3101
20

3101
35

3101
36

3101
34

3101
21

3101
23

3101
22

3101
26

3101
31

2401
19

3101
30

¬«73

C o o p e r  F o lly R
d

PC-2

PR-4

PR-3

PTC

Atlantic City Expy

£¤322

£¤30

¬«73

¬«54

¬«42

¯

Churchill Redevelopment Plan
Redevelopment Area Overlay Districts

Executive Director's Report
Winslow Ordinance O-2020-19
Exhibit 2
9/25/2020

0 400 800200
Feet

Professional
Office

Overlay District Senior
Residential

Overlay District

Regional Growth Area

Winslow Twp Parcels

Existing Zoning Redevelopment Area

Overlay Districts Boundary





 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:  Members of the Pinelands Commission 
 
From:  Brad Lanute 
  Planning Specialist 
 
Date:  September 30, 2020    
 
Subject: No Substantial Issue Findings 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
During the past month, we reviewed four ordinance amendments that we found to raise no substantial 
issues with respect to the standards of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan. These 
amendments were: 
 
Manchester Township Ordinance 20-026 - amends Chapter 245 (Land Use and Development) of the 
Township’s Code by revising the chapter’s grandfather clause as it relates to non-conforming, single-
family accessory buildings. The ordinance also amends Attachment 2, Appendix 2, by revising standards 
specific to various Senior Citizen Projects. These standards are applicable to principal structure 
additions, decks, patios, and open accessory structures with respect to setback areas, height, maximum 
square footage, and distance from other structures. Multiple Senior Citizen Projects are located within 
the Pinelands Town Management Area and Regional Growth Area. 
 
Manchester Township Ordinance 20-031 - adopts a Redevelopment Plan for Block 102, Lot 2. 
Permitted uses in the new 2121 Lake Road Redevelopment Area include mini warehouses, self-storage 
units, and all other uses permitted in the underlying WTO-P District. The Redevelopment Plan also 
includes lot and building intensity standards as well as standards for signage, off-street parking, 
landscaping and buffering, and site design. The Redevelopment Area is located in the Pinelands Town 
Management Area of Whiting. 
 
Ocean Township Ordinance 2020-11 - amends Chapter 410 (Zoning) of the Township’s Code by 
establishing medical cannabis dispensaries as a permitted use in the C-1 General Commercial District 
and establishes a corresponding definition for the use. The C-1 District is located outside of the State-
designated Pinelands Area, but within a Regional Growth Area in the Pinelands National Reserve. 
 
Shamong Township Ordinance 2020-7 - amends Ch. 110 (Land Development) of the Township’s 
Code by revising the maximum square footage for private garages, carports and accessory buildings in 
the Township’s Regional Growth Area district, Pinelands Village District, Infill District, and 



2 
 

Preservation Area District. Additionally, the ordinance amends Section 110-129, Schedule of 
Limitations, to repeal the Township-wide residential use restriction that accessory buildings be limited 
to 20% of the floor area of the principal building. 
 
 




